Michael Confusione (Atty No. 049501995)  
Hegge & Confusione, LLC, 309 Fellowship Road, Suite 200, Mt. Laurel, NJ 08054  
Mailing address: P.O. Box 366, Mullica Hill, NJ 08062  
(800) 790-1550; (888) 963-8864 (facsimile); mc@heggelaw.com  
Attorneys for Petitioner

SUPREME COURT OF NEW JERSEY  
DOCKET NO. 090537

ERWIN CAMPOVERDE,

PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT  
PETITIONER,

V.

NY-NJ LINK DEVELOPER, LLC,  
MACQUARIE GROUP LIMITED  
I/S/H/A MACQUORIE GROUP  
LIMITED, KIEWIT DEVELOPMENT  
COMPANY, AND THE PORT  
AUTHORITY OF NEW YORK AND NEW JERSEY,  
DEFENDANTS-RESPONDENTS,  
AND

KS ENGINEERS, PC,  
DEFENDANT.

Sat Below: Mawla, J.A.D., Natali, J.A.D.  
Vinci J.A.D.

Honorable Justices:

### **Questions Presented**

Did the Law Division err in granting defendants' motion for summary judgment and dismissing plaintiff's claims for the serious injuries he sustained while working on a reconstruction project on the Goethals Bridge which was located in both New Jersey and New York, and where the evidence permits a reasonable jury to find that the incident injuring the plaintiff arose from the negligence of an incompetent subcontractor hired by the defendants?

### **Matter Presented**

Plaintiff began working as a construction laborer, and later joined a New Jersey laborer's union. The plaintiff's union referred him to Kiewit-Weeks-Massman (KWM), a joint venture between Kiewit Infrastructure Co. (a subsidiary of Kiewit Development Company), Weeks Marine, Inc., and Massman Construction Co., to work on the Goethals Bridge project ("project"), which connects Union County with Richmond County, New York, by spanning the Arthur Kill waterway. PA1-3.

The Port Authority of New York and New Jersey ("Port Authority") owns the Goethals Bridge. In 2013, the Port Authority entered into an agreement with NY-NJ Link Developer, LLC ("NY-NJ Link"), to replace the bridge. Macquarie Group, an Australian global services group, owns ninety percent of NY-NJ Link

while Kiewit Development Company owns the remaining ten percent. NY-NJ Link hired KWM to design and construct the replacement bridge. PA1-3.

A design-build contract between KWM and NY-NJ Link governed those parties' relationship. The contract required KWM to provide and comply with a health and safety plan, supervise and inspect its own work, and deemed KWM's failure to "formally establish, adhere to or enforce a safety policy, procedure, process, or guideline as required by the [h]ealth and [s]afety [p]lan" a "noncompliance event." The contract also required KWM and NY-NJ Link "each [to] irrevocably and unconditionally submit[] . . . to the exclusive jurisdiction of any New York State court or the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of New York . . . for the settlement of any dispute in connection with th[e c]ontract."

According to the affidavit of Luke Chenery, the Chief Executive Officer of NY-NJ Link, "[o]nly KWM had the authority to hire its workers, train them, assign them tasks to complete, provide them with instructions on completing those tasks and discipline them if necessary." Chenery also attested "NY-NJ Link did not have the authority to control the means and methods of . . . [p]laintiff's work or the work of other KWM employees."

While working on the New Jersey side of the project on October 26, 2017, a KWM foreman assigned plaintiff and a coworker, both KWM employees, to

prepare crane mats near a construction trench. At the time of the accident, plaintiff was located outside the trench. An excavator operator, also a KWM employee, swung the crane mat without proper signaling and, plaintiff testified, as he bent down to hand a co-worker a piece of wood, he was struck in the back by the crane mat attached to the excavator. PA3-4. KWM terminated the excavator operator following the incident. Id.

Plaintiff sued the defendants to recover for his injuries. Following discovery, the defendants moved for summary judgment. The court granted the motion in a November 3, 2023 order and explained its decision in a comprehensive oral opinion.

The court first rejected plaintiff's arguments seeking the application of New York law and, instead, determined New Jersey law governed plaintiff's claims. It considered the Restatement (Second) of Conflict of Laws § 145 (1971) factors and found the record contained no facts to "establish New York [h]as the most significant relationship to the plaintiff's accident." Instead, the court concluded New Jersey had the more dominant relationship as plaintiff was hired for the job through his New Jersey union, lived in the state, and was injured here. The court also rejected plaintiff's argument that New York law should apply based on the New York choice of law provision in the contract between KWM and NY-NJ Link, as plaintiff's personal injury claims did not arise out of

the contract. Applying New Jersey law, the court concluded defendants did not owe plaintiff a duty of care. The court explained general contractors are not ordinarily liable for injuries sustained by employees of an independent contractor because an independent contractor controls the manner in which their own work is completed. Relying on the principles detailed in Tarabokia v. Structure Tone, 429 N.J. Super. 103 (App. Div. 2012), the court was satisfied that the moving parties did not "provide equipment[,] . . . supervise the construction[,] . . . [or] supervise the work." The court found "Macq[uarie] and Kiewit were simply investors and had no direct connection to the plaintiff's employer KWM." Further, the court noted "NY[-]NJ Link retained KWM to build the . . . [p]roject, but did not retain control over the meetings and methods of KWM's work" and was "satisfied . . . there [could] be no basis . . . to find any of the moving parties potentially exposed to liability for the claims at issue."

The court relied on this Court's decision in Alloway v. Bradlees, Inc., 157 N.J. 221, 236 (1999), and held the OSHA violations plaintiff relied upon as proof that NY-NJ Link and, by extension, the Port Authority, hired an incompetent contractor were insufficient to impose liability because those violations occurred after the parties' entered the contract and, further, plaintiff failed to establish their admissibility. The court also held the project did not constitute a "nuisance per se[.]" because the work at issue was not "an activity

which can be carried on safely only by the exercise of special skill and care and which involves grave risk of danger to persons or property if negligently done."

Plaintiff appealed and argued that the trial court erroneously applied New Jersey law instead of New York law because the project "spanned across both New Jersey and New York[,]" and New York's involvement was significantly greater than New Jersey's." PA6-9. Plaintiff argued that "[a] worker injured in the course of working on a massive project spanning both . . . [states] should be protected by whichever state's law is more protective of the injured worker." "New York has the more significant interest in this matter given that the legislative intent of both its [l]abor [l]aws and its [i]ndustrial [c]ode was to protect workers and to promote overall safety on construction sites."

The appeals panel rejected the argument and said that New Jersey law applied. The court acknowledged "a conflict exists between New Jersey law and New York law with respect to the liability imposed upon general contractors." "New Jersey adopted the most-significant-relationship test for deciding choice of substantive law in tort cases." "Applying the most significant relationship test and weighing the relevant factors and principles, the court correctly concluded that New Jersey law applies to plaintiff's claims against defendants. It is undisputed the injury occurred in New Jersey. Therefore, to overcome the presumption New Jersey law applies, the plaintiff must establish

that New York has the more significant relationship to the injury by applying the above-described factors. He has failed to do so,” the panel said. PA12-14.

Plaintiff argued that even if New Jersey law applied, “[d]efendants had a duty under New Jersey law not to retain negligent contractors and subcontractors,” which they breached because “incompetent workers were operating excavators on the Goethals Bridge without a signalman, and without remembering the excavator was still hooked on to the crane mat.” The panel rejected this argument, too. “We are satisfied the court did not err in holding defendants did not owe plaintiff a duty of care as none of the three exceptions to the general rule protecting general contractors applied to these facts. The undisputed facts show that none of the defendants retained control over the manner and means of the work. It is undisputed KWM hired plaintiff and the excavator operator, trained the employees, provided protective equipment, and managed the jobsite. It was also not contested that defendants, particularly with respect to Macquarie Group and Kiewit Development, were merely investors who provided funding and board oversight, and the Port Authority was similarly disconnected from the project except for hiring NY-NJ Link. Further, as the court correctly noted, the contract between NY-NJ Link and KWM required NY-NJ Link to conduct certain inspections to ensure compliance with the contract and applicable law, not control the manner and means of the work.” PA14-19.

## **ARGUMENT**

### **THE LAW DIVISION ERRED IN GRANTING DEFENDANTS' MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT AND DISMISSING WITH PREJUDICE PLAINTIFF'S CLAIMS FOR THE SERIOUS INJURIES HE SUSTAINED WHILE WORKING ON A RECONSTRUCTION PROJECT ON THE GOETHALS BRIDGE (A983; 1T37).**

The Court should grant Certification to clarify (1) when the law of a foreign state applies to a New Jersey resident's personal injury claim, and (2) the standard of liability for an owner or general contractor for hiring an incompetent subcontractor on a construction project.

#### **A. New York law should have been applied to assess the plaintiff's personal injury claim in this case.**

As summarized in Appellant's Brief (incorporated by reference), New York law provides greater protection for an injured construction worker like the plaintiff because it imposes strict liability on owners for injuries falling within its ambit, regardless of whether the owner had control of the worksite, or contracted for the work, *see e.g. Sanatass v. Consol. Investing Co.*, 10 N.Y.3d 333, 339 (2008) ("the statutory duty imposed by this strict liability provision is nondelegable and that an owner is liable for a violation of the section even though the job was performed by an independent contractor over which it exercised no supervision or control").

The Court should clarify that New York law should apply because this was a project that spanned both New Jersey and New York. Plaintiff's work permit (App.

Div. Appx. “A” 101) was required for working on the project in both New York and New Jersey in order to be able to work in both states, and the plaintiff’s work, spanning the entire bridge, extended to both states. Workers’ compensation for the plaintiff was filed in New York.

The Bridge project contract references New York courts and New York law. The contracting documents for the Goethals Bridge project all referenced New York law and New York courts. New Jersey courts honor choice of law provisions in contracts unless “(a) the chosen state has no substantial relationship to the parties or the transaction and there is no other reasonable basis for the parties’ choice, or (b) application of the law of the chosen state would be contrary to a fundamental policy of a state which has a materially greater interest than the chosen state in the determination of the particular issue and which would be the state of the applicable law in the absence of an effective choice of law by the parties.” See Instructional Sys., Inc. v. Computer Curriculum Corp., 130 N.J. 324, 341–42 (1992) (quoting Restatement (Second) of Conflict of Laws § 187 (1971)). Forum selection clauses are generally enforceable unless the clause is unreasonable or contravenes a strong public policy of the forum where the suit is brought. Id.

The documents demonstrate the intent of the Defendants to be bound by the laws of New York and not New Jersey. The Second Amended and Restated Construction Engineering and Inspection Contract between NY-NJ Link Developer

LLC and KS Engineers, P.C. dated July 1, 2016 contains Section 16.7 (Submission to Jurisdiction) and Section 16.9 (Governing Law), which read as follows:

16.7 (Submission to Jurisdiction) Developer and Engineer each irrevocably and unconditionally submits, to the fullest extent permitted by Applicable Law, to the exclusive jurisdiction of any New York State court or the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of New York sitting in the City and County of New York, and any appellate court from any thereof, for the settlement of any dispute in connection with this Contract or any transaction contemplated hereby. Engineer and Developer each also irrevocably and unconditionally waive, to the fullest extent permitted by Applicable Law, any objection that it may have now or hereafter to the laying of venue in such courts on the grounds of inconvenient forum or otherwise in relation to proceedings in connection with this Contract or any transaction contemplated hereby. \*\*\*

16.9 (Governing Law) THIS CONTRACT SHALL BE GOVERNED BY, AND CONSTRUED AND INTERPRETED IN ACCORDANCE WITH, THE LAW OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK, BUT WITHOUT REGARD TO, THE STATE OF NEW YORK'S CONFLICT OF LAW PRINCIPLES. (See Cert. of Counsel at Exhibit F).

The Design-Build Contract between Defendant NY-NJ Link and KWM dated August 30, 2013 contains the following provisions: “32.8 (Submission to Jurisdiction) Developer and Contractor each irrevocably and unconditionally submits, to the fullest extent permitted by Applicable Law, to the exclusive jurisdiction of any New York State court or the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of New York sitting in the City and County of New York, and any appellate court from any thereof, for the settlement of any dispute in connection with this Contract or any transaction contemplated hereby. Engineer and Developer each also

irrevocably and unconditionally waive, to the fullest extent permitted by Applicable Law, any objection that it may have now or hereafter to the laying of venue in such courts on the grounds of inconvenient forum or otherwise in relation to proceedings in connection with this Contract or any transaction contemplated hereby.” “32.10 (Governing Law) THIS CONTRACT SHALL BE GOVERNED BY, AND CONSTRUED AND INTERPRETED IN ACCORDANCE WITH, THE LAW OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK, BUT WITHOUT REGARD TO THE STATE OF NEW YORK CONFLICT OF LAW PRINCIPLES.” The Subcontract for Design between KWM and Parsons Transportation Group of New York, Inc. dated March 12, 2013 contains Article 26 – Governing Law, which reads as follows: “This Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State of New York, excluding their conflicts of law provisions. The site for jurisdiction and resolution of any legal dispute hereunder shall be New York.”

While plaintiff was injured on the New Jersey side of the bridge, but his work spanned the entire project and both sides of the bridge. The work on the Goethals Bridge project embraced both New Jersey and New York in multiple sections; the bridge spans the Arthur Kill waterway separating the City of Elizabeth, New Jersey, from the County of Richmond, New York, *see* A78 (plaintiff’s deposition transcripts at A363, A366), A87 (answers to interrogatories), A944, 951; including descriptions of the project's scope involving construction in both states and the bridge connecting

Elizabeth, New Jersey, to Staten Island, New York (A659). Permits and approvals were from both states (A366, 576, 581, 600, 608, 795, 796, 806, 817, 821, 900, 980), pointing to the bi-state nature of the project.

The contract and related documents confirm that the work on the Goethals Bridge involved building two new bridges to replace an old one and spanned both sides of the bridge, including New Jersey and a part of New York, separated only by the Arthur Kill waterway (A380-381). Construction details include the eastbound and westbound bridges (A582, 600), with government approvals for work involving both New York and New Jersey (A817), and specific structural components such as "Main Span - South Structure" and "Main Span - North Structure" (A841-843). The Port Authority of New York and New Jersey owns and operates the Goethals Bridge and entered into an agreement with NYNJ Link for a project to replace the Goethals Bridge, suggesting that the project pertains to both New York and New Jersey due to the involvement of the Port Authority that operates across both states (A576, A581). The project undertaken by Kiewitt Infrastructure Corp and its joint venture was to build a bridge between New Jersey and New York, implicitly conveying that the work on the Goethals Bridge project involved both states (A608; A795-96). The Port District is noted as being an area of about 1,500 square miles centering around New York Harbor, which includes cities in both New York and New Jersey, again indicating that the work on the Goethals Bridge project spans across both states

(A806, A817). A subcontract mentions the Goethals Bridge Replacement Project and includes addresses in New Jersey and New York, specifically listing "470 Chestnut Ridge Road, Woodcliff Lake, NJ 07677" for Kiewit-Weeks-Massman, AJV, and "100 M Street SE, Washington, DC 20003" for Parsons Transportation Group of New York, Inc., with the project located in New York, New York (A980). Construction details include the eastbound and westbound bridges (A582, 600), with government approvals for work involving both New York and New Jersey (A817), and specific structural components such as "Main Span - South Structure" and "Main Span - North Structure" (A841-843).

In addition to the contract's choice of New York courts and law, defendants were cited for 51 violations of the Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA), a Federal agency of the U.S. Department of Labor, which can be evidence that a defendant was negligent (though a duty of care does not arise based solely on a finding that OSHA regulations were violated, Alloway v. Bradlees, Inc., 157 N.J. 221, 236 (1999); Costa v. Gaccione, 408 N.J. Super. 362, 372–73 (App. Div. 2009); Slack v. Whalen, 327 N.J. Super. 186, 195 (App. Div. 2000)). A general contractor's duty of care is determined under "general negligence principles." Alloway, supra, 157 N.J. 230. OSHA violations are a factor in the negligence assessment. Tarabokia v. Structure Tone, 429 N.J. Super. 103, 112 (App. Div. 2012). The OSHA violations

are germane to showing that defendants hired an “incompetent” general contractor since OSHA’s responsibility is to improve worker safety and health protection.

Plaintiff’s Workers’ Compensation case was filed in New York. All the defense IME’s requested by opposing counsel for the Defendants were held in New York and conducted by New York doctors. Indeed, other than the exact location of the accident itself, there are very few contacts that this matter has with New Jersey as opposed to New York. As such, New York law should apply.

A worker injured in the course of working on a massive project spanning both New Jersey and New York should be protected by whichever state’s law is more protective of the injured worker. This is consistent with courts, in assessing a duty of care, considering factors such as “the foreseeability of the risk of injury, both its nature and severity.” “Determining whether a duty exists is a matter of fairness,” and involves a complex analysis that “weigh[s], and balance[es] several factors – the relationship of the parties, the nature of the attendant risk, the opportunity and ability to exercise care, and the public interest in the proposed solution.” Alloway, supra, 157 N.J. 230 (quoting Hopkins v. Fox & Lazo Realtors, 132 N.J. 426, 439 (1993)). “The analysis is both very fact-specific and principled; it must lead to solutions that properly and fairly resolve the specific case and generate intelligible and sensible rules to govern future conduct.” Hopkins, supra, 132 N.J. 439.

Imposing a duty of care on defendants is consistent, the Court should clarify by granting Certification in this case, with the most significant relationship test set forth in sections 6, 145 and 146 of the Restatement (Second) of Conflicts of Law, P.V. ex rel. T.V. v. Camp Jaycee, 197 N.J. 132, 142–43 (2008) (*citing* Erny v. Estate of Merola, 171 N.J. 86, 95–97 (2002)).

§ 6. Choice-of-Law Principles: (1) A court, subject to constitutional restrictions, will follow a statutory directive of its own state on choice of law; (2) When there is no such directive, the factors relevant to the choice of the applicable rule of law include:

- (a) the needs of the interstate and international systems;
- (b) the relevant policies of the forum;
- (c) the relevant policies of other interested states and the relative interests of those states in the determination of the particular issue;
- (d) the protection of justified expectations;
- (e) the basic policies underlying the particular field of law;
- (f) certainty, predictability and uniformity of result; and
- (g) ease in the determination and application of the law to be applied.

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