Supreme Court of New Jersey

Docket No. 090537

| | | |
|--|---|-----------------------------|
| ERWIN CAMPOVERDE, | : | CIVIL ACTION |
| <i>Plaintiff-Appellant Petitioner,</i> | : | |
| vs. | : | ON PETITION FOR |
| NY-NJ LINK DEVELOPER, LLC, | : | CERTIFICATION FROM A |
| MACQUARIE GROUP LIMITED | : | FINAL JUDGMENT OF THE |
| i/s/h/a Macquarie Group Limited, | : | SUPERIOR COURT |
| KIEWIT DEVELOPMENT | : | OF NEW JERSEY, |
| COMPANY, and THE PORT | : | APPELLATE DIVISION |
| AUTHORITY OF NEW YORK | : | |
| AND NEW JERSEY, | : | DOCKET NO. A-001174-23 |
| <i>Defendants-Respondents,</i> | : | Sat Below: |
| - and - | : | HON. HANY MAWLA, J.A.D., |

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

LEGAL ARGUMENT
POINT I

NEW JERSEY LAW APPLIES TO THE CASE AT HAND

As shown, the argument that New York law should apply is meritless. Plaintiff failed, and continues to fail, to cite any factual or applicable legal authority for applying New York law. Instead, Plaintiff simply asserts (Petition pgs. 7 and 13) that since "New York law provides greater protection for an injured construction worker like plaintiff" New York law should be applied and "[a] worker injured in the course of working on a massive project spanning both

New Jersey and New York should be protected by whichever state’s law is more protective of the injured worker.”¹ The Appellate Division correctly rejected this argument (PA010) as it fails to take into consideration the actual doctrinal test (discussed at Petition pgs. 14-15) to determine which state law applies when there is a conflict. During oral argument in the Trial Court, Plaintiff acknowledged that “Under the most significant relationship standard, the law of the state of the injury is applicable unless another state has a more significant relationship to the parties and issues.” 1T 40. Plaintiff now asks this Court to “clarify” that New York law should apply despite failing to present any facts that show New York has the most significant relationship to Plaintiff’s accident.

On appeal and in his Petition to this Court, Plaintiff conflates the legal concept of “choice of law” provisions in contracts with “choice of law” analysis. Plaintiff argues that the choice-of-law provisions in the contracts governing the project are the controlling factor in determining which law should apply in the

¹Plaintiff argues in legally unsupportable fashion at Petition pg. 7 that “New York law should apply [simply] because project...spanned both New Jersey and New York.” There is no explanation of why under this “analysis” New York law prevails over New Jersey law. At Petition pgs. 10-12 it is similarly insinuated without legal explanation that because the project involved both New York and New Jersey, New York law must necessarily apply to the plaintiff’s accident.

case at hand.² *See* Appellant Brief pgs. 18-23, Petition pgs. 8-10.³ However, Plaintiff's argument is unavailing, and it should be disregarded by this Court. The choice-of-law language in the contract is clearly irrelevant and does not require the application of New York law to this case. To clarify, the choice-of-law language in the contract is irrelevant as this case does not involve a contract dispute. Indeed, Plaintiff was not a party to the project contract, or an intended beneficiary. As such, Plaintiff cannot enforce any provision of the contract. A third party has no standing and is only an incidental beneficiary when there is no intent to recognize a third party's right to contract performance. *See Labega v. Joshi*, 470 N.J. Super. 472, 487 (App. Div. 2022). Plaintiff's citation to contract § 16.9 does not change this analysis.

In support of his argument, Plaintiff cites to Instructional Systems, Inc., v. Computer Curriculum Corp., 130 N.Y. 324 (1992). *See* Appellant Brief pg. 18, Petition pg. 8. However, what Plaintiff fails to mention is that Instructional Systems involves a contractual dispute about which states' law applied.

Moreover, the contract dictates that the parties submit to the exclusive

² For example, at page 8 of his Petition the plaintiff notes that “[f]orum selection clauses [in contracts] are generally enforceable unless the clause is unreasonable or contravenes a strong public policy of the forum where the suit is brought.”

³ The Plaintiff also notes that his work permit required that he be able to work in both states and that he applied for Workers' Comp. benefits in New York. *See* Petition pgs. 7-8.

jurisdiction of any New York Court or the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of New York, and that each party waive any right to a jury trial. Thus, if this Court were to follow Plaintiff's logic, it would be compelled to dismiss this action for lack of jurisdiction. However, again, Plaintiff is not a contract party nor an intended beneficiary and cannot rely on any part of this agreement.

In his Petition (pg. 10-13), Plaintiff notes that the Bridge project spanned both sides of the bridge and thus both states were involved and both states required permits. Yet, these facts do not establish that New York had the most significant relationship to Plaintiff and his accident. Indeed, these examples of how the project was interconnected with both New York and New Jersey only places more importance on where the injury occurred and the residency of Plaintiff.

Plaintiff claims that "there are very few contacts that this matter has with New Jersey as opposed to New York" (Petition pg. 13); however, this is simply incorrect. Again, Plaintiff's injury occurred in New Jersey as did the conduct allegedly causing the injury. Plaintiff is a resident of New Jersey and a member of a local New Jersey laborers' union. Plaintiff was hired by KWM through his local New Jersey union, Local 472. This local New Jersey union provided the orientation. Plaintiff's Petition (pg. 13) notes that post-accident "IME" examinations were conducted in New York and his Worker's Compensation

claim was filed in New York. Yet, these comments fail to show a strong connection between Plaintiff's accident and New York; especially compared to the significant New Jersey connections. The fact that Plaintiff was authorized to work or that he sought his Workers' Compensation benefits in New York does not change the analysis under the significant-relationship standard for this particular incident and injury. Moreover, Plaintiff cites no case law to show these post-accident events are relevant to the choice-of-law analysis.

Plaintiff asserts, in legally unsupported fashion, that this case should be governed by whichever state's law is more protective of an injured worker. *See* Petition pg. 13. As discussed in the Second Restatement of Conflicts of Law § 145, the most-significant relationship presumes that where the accident occurred is the governing law. Plaintiff does not dispute that both the injury and incident occurred in New Jersey. In order to preclude application of New Jersey law, Plaintiff must show that another state has "a demonstrably dominant interest" and that no policy of New Jersey is frustrated by application of the other state's policy. Plaintiff utterly failed to meet this burden.

In his Petition on pg. 14, Plaintiff notes that Section 145 of the Second Restatement specifically identifies contacts that are most germane to the governmental-interest test. Plaintiff does not articulate how the contacts in this case weigh in favor of applying New York law. When applying the proper

significant-relationship test, an analysis of all four factors shows that New Jersey, not New York, law should apply to the case at hand. First, the injury occurred in New Jersey. Second, the conduct causing the injury also occurred in New Jersey. In this respect, the facts of this case are unlike those of Dolan v. Sea Transfer Corp., 398 N.J. Super. 313 (App. Div. 2008), cited by Plaintiff. In Dolan, the conduct that caused the accident occurred in New York as did the injury producing conduct. Dolan at 318. Here, there is no allegation of prior conduct involving the excavator operator in New York that caused the accident. Thus, the first two factors strongly favor the application of New Jersey law.

With respect to the third factor, Plaintiff is a resident of New Jersey and a member of a local New Jersey laborers' union. Similarly, regarding the fourth factor, the relationship between the parties does not favor New York over New Jersey. Indeed, Plaintiff was hired by KWM through his local New Jersey union, Local 472. His local union provided the orientation. Thus, weighing all of these factors, this Court should determine, just as the Appellate Division did, that New Jersey law applies. *See, e.g.,* Arias v. Figueroa, 395 N.J. Super. 623 (App. Div. 2007) (applying New Jersey law where motor vehicle accident occurred in New Jersey and plaintiff was resident of New Jersey); *see also*, Lebegern v. Forman, 471 F.3d 424 (Third Cir. 2006) (applying New Jersey law where the injury and the conduct causing the injury occurred in New Jersey).

Furthermore, the cases cited by the Petition pgs. 15-16 are distinguishable from the one at hand. In Erny v. Estate of Merola, 171 N.J. 86 (2002) there were factually demonstrated connections to New York – unlike here. In Butkera v. Hudson River Sloop Clearwater, Inc., 300 N.J. Super. 550 (App. Div. 1997) specific connections to New York were demonstrated – unlike here. In Fairfax Financial Holding Limited v. S.A.C. Capital management, L.L.C., 450 N.J. Super. 1 (App. Div. 2017) New York connections were demonstrated (unlike here), which led to the conclusion that New York law applied.

In his Petition (pgs. 16-17), Plaintiff argues in conclusory fashion that “New York has the more significant interest in this matter given that the legislative intent of both its Labor Laws and its Industrial Code was to protect workers and to promote overall safety on construction sites.” While it’s true that the intent of New York law was to protect workers, Plaintiff fails to establish that these laws should apply to accidents involving New Jersey residents that occur in New Jersey. Plaintiff makes no factual connection between New York’s public policy and this accident.

As such, this Court should uphold the Appellate Division’s ruling that New Jersey law applies in this case. Further, this Court should hold that summary judgment should be granted in Defendants’ favor under New Jersey law and affirm that all of Plaintiff’s claims were correctly dismissed.

POINT II

THERE WAS NO DUTY OWED TO PLAINTIFF

In the Petition pg. 17-19, Plaintiff addresses Defendants' purported liability under New Jersey law. Plaintiff fails to address the liability of each Defendant separately. Instead, Plaintiff lumps the Defendants together and argues for their purported liability in a superficial and conclusory fashion. Noticeably absent from Plaintiff's discussion of the Defendants' purported liability is any factual citation or any discussion of how any of the facts in this case translate into liability with respect to the Defendants. The Petition clearly fails to demonstrate that the Appellate Division was incorrect in affirming the dismissal of Plaintiff's claims. As discussed below, neither NY-NJ Link nor any other Defendant owed any duty of care to Plaintiff.

A. Defendants are Not Responsible For The Acts Or Omissions Of KWM

As the developer, NY-NJ Link does not bear any liability for the acts or omissions of its independent contractor, KWM. It is well-settled law that one who hires an independent contractor is not liable for the wrongful conduct of such contractor in the performance of its duties and services. Bahrle v. Exxon Corp., 145 N.J. 144, 156 (1996). The public policy reason for this rule is that unlike an employee, an independent contractor controls the manner in which the work is to be done and therefore should be the one charged with the damages

that result from its acts. Mavrikidis v. Petullo, 153 N.J. 117, 132 (1998).

There are three exceptions to the general rule of no liability: (i) where the principal retains control over the means and methods of the independent contractor's work, (ii) where he engages an incompetent contractor, or (iii) where the activity contracted for constitutes nuisance per se. Mavrikidis v. Petullo, 153 N.J. 117, 132 (1998); Majestic Realty Associates, Inc. v. Toti Contracting Co., 30 NJ 425 (1959). None of these exceptions apply here.

First, none of the Defendants retained control over the means and methods of KWM's work, as outlined in the Defendants' Respondent's Brief pg. 27. (See IT 35-36, 39-40, 52 and 53; PA019-PA020). See Majestic, *supra*. Any inspections NY-NJ Link performed were limited to seeing that the work was done in accordance with the contract and specifications.

Second, KWM was not an incompetent contractor as shown in the Respondent's Brief pg. 28. (See IT 54-57 and 60; PA020). Nothing in how the accident happened suggests incompetence on the part of KWM. Moreover, this exception requires not just that the contractor was incompetent or unskilled to perform the job for which he was hired but also that the principal knew or had reason to know of the contractor's incompetence. Mavrikidis v. Petullo, 153 NJ 117, 137 (1998).

Plaintiff's reference to 51 OSHA violations does not change this analysis

(Petition pg. 18). Plaintiff fails to show if this was a large amount of violations compared to other work sites. He also does not show the nature of the violations. It should also be mentioned that the unauthenticated/uncertified OSHA History (A961-A969) constitutes inadmissible hearsay evidence which cannot be used in opposition. *See generally* State v. Swed, 255 N.J. Super. 228, 235-240 (App. Div. 1992); *see also* Millison v. E.I. du Pont de Nemours and Co., 226 N.J. Super. 572, 593 (App Div. 1988). Even if the OSHA violations were admissible evidence, they do not help Plaintiff. The argument that NY-NJ Link had prior knowledge of the alleged dangerous circumstances of the 51 OSHA violations is baseless. The violations do not establish anyone's negligence or even raise an issue of fact, nor do they provide notice that Plaintiff's employer was an incompetent employer. Further, as shown in the Respondent's Brief on pg. 30, these OSHA violations are immaterial to the accident at hand. (See PA020-021).

In his Petition pgs. 17-18, Plaintiff cites four "pieces of evidence" that were allegedly disregarded in the decision dismissing Plaintiff's claims. None of these are applicable or relevant. First, the OSHA violations do not show that there was any sort of "dangerous condition". Second, the fact that there may be a corporate relationship between the parties is irrelevant and nonsensical. Third, Plaintiff does not explain how risks associated with the work being performed conferred a duty onto NY-NJ Link as opposed to or in addition to their contractor

KWM. Finally, Defendants having an opportunity to prevent the accident by mandating the use of a signalman is misleading. Only Plaintiff's employer, KWM, bore any responsibility for supervising the work of Plaintiff or his co-workers.

Finally, with regard to the third exception, the activity taking place at the time of the accident did not constitute a nuisance per se. See Majestic Realty Associates v. Toti Contracting Co., 30 NJ 425 (1959). There is no "peculiar risk", and only ordinary caution is warranted. Mavrikidis, *supra*, at 144, PA021.

Further, in Alloway v. Bradlees, 157 N.J. 221 (1999), the Court adopted a "general negligence" approach to determining whether an owner or prime contractor owes a duty to an employee of an independent contractor. *Id.* at 230. In Alloway, the court considered "the foreseeability of harm, the relationship between the parties, and the opportunity and capacity to take corrective action" in determining that the prime contractor owed a duty of reasonable care to plaintiff. *Id.* at 233. Here, applying that same approach, this Court should find that Defendants did not owe a duty to Plaintiff. For a full description of how Alloway and Carvalho v. Toll Brother & Developers, 143 N.J. 565 (1996) establish that Defendants were not negligent, see Defendants' Respondent's Brief, pgs. 33-35. See also Tarabokia v. Structure Tone, 429 N.J. Super. 103 (2012) and the discussion of the same in Defendants' Respondent's Brief, pgs.

35-36.

Here, like the above cited cases, Plaintiff's employer, KWM, was expected to monitor and ensure its own workers' safety. NY-NJ Link did not discuss with KWM how they performed their work and had no authority to direct the manner and means of the performance of KWM's work. NY-NJ Link had no actual knowledge of a particular risk to Plaintiff. Therefore, there is no basis for imposing a duty of care upon NY-NJ Link or any of the Defendants. Accordingly, the Appellate Division correctly affirmed the Trial Court's dismissal of the claims against NY-NJ Link.

B. The Defendants Did Not Breach Any Duty Of Care To Plaintiff

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